
CITY OF HANOVER 
PLANNING COMMISSION MEETING -- ZOOM 

MARCH 22, 2021 
OFFICIAL MINUTES 

Call to Order 
Stan Kolasa called the March 22, 2021, Planning Commission Meeting to order at 7:02 pm.  Members 
present were Stan Kolasa, Jim Schendel, Dean Kuitunen, Mike Christenson and Gretchen Barrett.  Also 
present City Planner Cindy Nash, City Engineer Nick Preisler, Council Liaison Jim Zajicek and Accountant 
Jackie Heinz.  Guests present included Joey Werlinger, Zach Webber, Brian Lester, Andrea Rand, Reid 
Rabon, Nathan Herman, and Margaret Peterson. 

Approval of the Agenda 
MOTION by Schendel to approve the agenda, seconded by Kuitunen.  
Motion carried unanimously. 

Approval of Minutes from the January 25, 2021, Regular Meeting 
MOTION by Christenson to approve the January 25, 2021, minutes, seconded by Kuitunen. 
Motion carried unanimously. 

Citizen’s Forum 
None 

Public Hearing 
Bridgewater At Hanover, Phase 2: PUD Amendment, Conditional Use Permit, Site Plan 

Kolasa closed the Planning Commission Meeting at 7:03 pm and opened the Public Hearing. 

Nash stated the project requires an amendment to the PUD, Conditional Use Permit and Site Plan, the 
property is zoned R-1 and has a planned unit development overlay.  Nash further stated as a condition of 
the PUD itself, the project must conform to the prior plans.  Anytime someone wants to make changes or 
add to the PUD, that requires an amendment to the PUD.  Nash stated there were very minor comments and 
is comfortable with recommending the items for approval.   

Nathan Herman with ISG, Engineer for the Developer, the recommendations from the city were minor 
issues, the one big thing which has been brought up in the past are the soils under the building.  Borings 
were taken and nothing drastic needs to be done.  They plan to strip the topsoil, a possible 2’ sub cut under 
the building that will be filled with suitable material and some possible spot corrections, nothing to stop the 
project from moving forward.   

Barrett inquired about the emergency calls, was this addressed.  Nash stated yes, the concerns were 
addressed, and the developer is willing to work with staff to adjust some of the calls which did not have to 
occur.  Barrett inquired about the lighting, stating the lighting on the first building was swapped out because 
they were too bright and wants to make sure that is handled.  Herman stated they have put together a 
photometric plan, which shows how strong that light will be at the property line.  The lights will be down 
passing and should not cause any issues beyond the property line.   

Barrett inquired about the uniformity with the first building, it looks beautiful and want the replicated with 
the second building.  Herman stated their intentions are to have an exact replica of the first building. 
Herman further stated the whole look of the building, the roof, are all to be identical.  Nash stated a review 
was done and verified the materials are compatible and it will be included the developer cannot swap out 
materials for something else.   



Reid Rabon – 10884 Settlers Lane North 
Rabon stated he has concerns with the soil corrections, when the first building was built the soil was in 
issue and now it is not a big deal.  Lighting up 52 parking spots at night is also a concern, if there is no 
evening traffic then why does the lighting have to be on in such a large, single family home area.  Also, the 
adjoining parking lot with the driveway, the headlights from the traffic leaving at 5 pm in the winter will 
bounce off the homes which would be addressed by the existing black hills spruce.  But with the addition 
of a driveway, those lights will now be a problem again.  Lastly, asking that the new trees which are to be 
planted are moved farther away from the path which is maintained by the Bridges Association, the reseeding 
of the disturbed area and who will be maintaining the taller grasses to the West which is not part of the 
association. 
 
Brian Lester - representing the owner, stated the requests are reasonable, the addition of trees to protect 
light from the neighboring houses is acceptable, the design team can address the trees being too close to the 
path, the lighting will be up to what Hanover wants.  If a different lighting is desired that is okay and are 
also willing to sit down with the homeowner’s association and discuss the area which will be disturbed and 
reseeded.   
 
Kolasa closed the Public Hearing and re-opened the Planning Commission meeting at 7:21 pm. 
 
Nash stated a motion on the PUD, CUP and Site Plan is needed.  Kuitunen stated he is good with the PUD 
and CUP, but should we add items to the Site Plan from what we have heard just now.  Barrett expressed 
concerns about the lighting and how approval for that would work.  Nash stated she would check with city 
policy and ordinances on the lighting and clarify the additional trees.  Kuitunen stated the trees next to the 
driveway make sense but asked for clarification for the trees on the boulevard.  Preisler stated the trees 
going in along the boulevard, the concern is about the roots that would come up and disrupt the path, if I 
understand correctly they would like the trees moved back away from the path so there is less effect on the 
trail system.  Herman suggested to stagger the trees to help with headlights from vehicles.  Herman further 
stated their goal is to keep everything maintained like the residential.  There will be a different seed mix 
put down which will grow at a higher height to help with storm water.   
 
MOTION by Kuitunen to approve the PUD Amendment, CUP, and Site Plan to Council for approval with 
the conditions provided by the City Planner, City Engineer, as well as the tree along the boulevard and 
lighting, seconded by Schendel. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
Unfinished Business 
 None 
 
New Business 
 Crow River Heights West 5th Addition Final Plat 
 
Nash stated the Crow River Heights West 5th Final Plat includes 23 single family homes which will start 
from Jordan Avenue and connect to Kadler Circle.  This final plat is in compliance with the preliminary 
plat which was previously approved.  Kuitunen inquired when that was approved, Nash stated 2018 and 
includes the rest of the west and this will go on for a few more years.  This is all in compliance with what 
was approved on the preliminary plat and is recommending approval of the final plat. 
 
Kolasa stated the lots look smaller than other additions, Nash stated in the other areas the ponds and 
wetlands are not in out lots, this has been changed to prevent encroaching.  Kolasa referenced lots along 
the right side of the plan compared to the left side.  Christenson inquired if the lots were the same width as 
the preliminary plat, Nash stated yes, they are the same width.  Christenson inquired about the notes 
regarding the side yard drainage easements, Preisler stated that is primarily for the Jordan Court area.  Those 
are in place for the City to access and each are handles on a case-by-case basis. 
 



Kuitunen inquired about decks being installed on the properties, Nash stated in the planning review 
comment the builder needs to demonstrate how a 10’ deck will work while meeting the setbacks or it will 
be denied.  Nash further stated you can fit homes on building pads without that being an issue, but some 
builders are not choosing the best homes for the building pad.  Zajicek asked for Nash to expand on what 
is not a right fit.  Nash stated some of the building permits received from the some of the builders, not all, 
have plans where the garage is in the front with the home behind, this makes for a deep home and does not 
leave room for back yard or a deck.  Zajicek inquired if there are other home options for the builders, or are 
they trying to maximize the square footage.  Nash stated she is not sure, perhaps the potential buyer selected 
the house plan and are not realizing what could happen later.  Nash further stated with some of the homes 
there is lots of room on the sides, they are not even close to the side yard setbacks. 
 
Kuitunen inquired if this is something the developer should be working on with the builders, Nash stated 
yes, they are communicating.  Barrett stated JP Brooks had a lot of different plans for different size lots.  
Christenson inquired if those houses get denied, Nash stated no, when they come in for the building permit, 
they are reviewed for the permit that is being requested.  Nash further stated comments will be made 
regarding this is not grounds for a variance later.   
 
Due to earlier technical difficulties, Margaret Peterson – 10787 Settlers Lane North is being allowed to 
speak on the Bridgewater at Hanover, Phase 2 Discussion at this time. 
 
Peterson inquired if there will be landscaping on the south and west sides the new Bridgewater building, 
the lighting and commented the trash cans in front of the existing building have been overflowing for a 
week.  Nash stated a three-sided concrete block enclosure with a gate will be installed.  Peterson inquired 
if it would hold garbage and recycle, Nash stated yes.  Peterson stated the recycle containers are currently 
outside the enclosure, Nash stated all containers will fit inside the new enclosure which will be 20’ x 15.5’ 
which is quite a bit larger and will be sufficient to house the garbage and recycle containers.  Barrett inquired 
if there is an ordinance about containers not inside the enclosure.  Nash stated she will confirm with City 
Administrator Hagen.  Kuitunen stated that was a comment brought up last time as well. 
 
Peterson inquired what kind of landscaping would be done on the south and west sides of the new building.  
Nash stated she would talk with the developer, some grade changes in that area which may make it difficult.  
Preisler stated there will be no trees or landscaping within the swale, from there it is a steep grade.  Could 
talk with the applicant to see if there are some taller species that are able to bring some screening and live 
on a steep slope. 
 
Peterson stated she is not understanding the change in grade.  Preisler stated the tightened dash lines indicate 
steep grade, close to a 25-30% grade which is pretty steep.  Peterson inquired if they could move the 
building closer to the road versus closer to the townhomes.  Preisler stated they are mirroring what they 
have on the other side to continue to use the existing parking lot and moving the building would move the 
northwest corner of the building closer to the trail.  Nash confirmed the building meets all setbacks.   
 
Board consensus to add Petersons comments and concerns to the previously approved motion.   
 
MOTION by Christenson to send the Final Plat for Crow River Heights West 5th Addition Final Plat to 
Council for approval with the conditions provided by the City Planner and City Engineer, seconded by 
Barrett. 
Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 



Discussion: Requiring Proposed Deck on New Construction Survey 
 
Nash stated she would like to amend the zoning ordinance to require new construction home permits to 
show how a minimum sized 10’ deck would fit on a plan.   
 
Board consensus to move forward. 
 

Reports and Announcements 
 
Schendel 

• Rivers Edge Progress, Preisler stated is it expected any day for review. 
Kuitunen 

• Inquired about the Site Access Study, Preisler stated three concepts will be submitted to Hennepin 
County, WSB is currently 1/3 of the way through, the final will come in May and wrapped up in 
June. 

Barrett 
• Hilltop Update, Nash stated the applicant is currently updating site plans. 

Preisler 
• Meeting with Fehn on 15th Street to address surface imperfections and rideability of the road. 

 
Adjournment 
MOTION by Schendel to adjourn, seconded by Christenson.   
Motion carried unanimously.  
Meeting adjourned at 8:14 pm. 
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
      
Jackie Heinz 
Accountant 
 
 
 


